# Enhancing partner support to improve smoking cessation (Review)

Park EW, Tudiver FG, Campbell T



This is a reprint of a Cochrane review, prepared and maintained by The Cochrane Collaboration and published in *The Cochrane Library* 2012, Issue 7

http://www.thecochranelibrary.com



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER	1
ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
BACKGROUND	2
OBJECTIVES	3
METHODS	3
RESULTS	4
DISCUSSION	5
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	6
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	6
REFERENCES	7
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES	11
DATA AND ANALYSES	26
Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1 Partner intervention versus control, Outcome 1 Abstinence at 6 to 9 months	26
Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1 Partner intervention versus control, Outcome 2 Abstinence at 12+ months	27
APPENDICES	27
WHAT'S NEW	30
HISTORY	30
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	31
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	31
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	31
INDEX TERMS	31

[Intervention Review]

# Enhancing partner support to improve smoking cessation

Eal Whan Park<sup>1</sup>, Fred G Tudiver<sup>2</sup>, Thomas Campbell<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Family Medicine, Medical College of Dankook University, Cheonan, Korea, South. <sup>2</sup>Department of Family Medicine, East Tennesse State University, Johnson City, Tennessee, USA. <sup>3</sup>Family Medicine and Psychiatry, University of Rochester School of Medicine and Dentistry, Rochester, New York, USA

Contact address: Eal Whan Park, Department of Family Medicine, Medical College of Dankook University, 16-5 Anseo-Dong, Cheonan, Chungnam, 330-715, Korea, South. ewpark@kornet.net.

Editorial group: Cochrane Tobacco Addiction Group. Publication status and date: New search for studies and content updated (no change to conclusions), published in Issue 7, 2012. Review content assessed as up-to-date: 24 April 2012.

**Citation:** Park EW, Tudiver FG, Campbell T. Enhancing partner support to improve smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2012, Issue 7. Art. No.: CD002928. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002928.pub3.

Copyright © 2012 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

# ABSTRACT

#### Background

While many cessation programmes are available to assist smokers in quitting, research suggests that partner involvement may encourage long-term abstinence.

# Objectives

The purpose of this review was to determine if an intervention to enhance partner support helps smoking cessation when added as an adjunct to a smoking cessation programme, and to estimate the size of any effect.

# Search methods

For the most recent update, the search was limited to the Cochrane Tobacco Addiction Group Specialized Register. This was searched in December 2011. The Specialized Register includes reports of controlled trials of smoking cessation identified from electronic searches of the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) to Issue 4, 2011, MEDLINE to update 20110826, EMBASE to 2011 week 33, PsycINFO to 20110822 and Web of Science. The search terms used were smoking (prevention, control, therapy), smoking cessation, and support (family, marriage, spouse, partner, sexual partner, buddy, friend, co-habitees and co-worker).

#### Selection criteria

Randomized controlled trials of smoking cessation interventions that compared an intervention that included a partner support component with an otherwise identical intervention and reported follow-up of six months or longer.

#### Data collection and analysis

Two authors independently identified the included studies and extracted data using a structured form. A third author was consulted to aid in the resolution of discrepancies. Abstinence, biochemically validated if possible, was the primary outcome measure and was extracted at two post-treatment intervals: six to nine months and 12 months or greater. Partner Interaction Questionnaire and Support Provided Measure scores were also analysed to assess partner support. A fixed-effect model was used to pool relative risks from each study and estimate a summary effect.

## Main results

A total of 57 articles were identified for this review. Twelve articles (13 studies, > 2000 participants) met the inclusion criteria. The definition of partner varied between studies. All studies gave self-reported smoking cessation rates, but there was limited biochemical validation of abstinence. The pooled risk ratio for self-reported abstinence was 0.99 (95% confidence interval (CI) 0.84 to 1.15) at six to nine months and 1.04 (95% CI 0.87 to 1.24) at 12 months or more post-treatment. Of the eight studies that measured partner support at follow-up, only two studies reported a significant increase in partner support in the intervention group, but smokers' reports of partner support received did not differ significantly in this study.

# Authors' conclusions

In this review of randomized controlled trials of interventions designed to enhance partner support for smokers in cessation programmes, we failed to detect an increase in quit rates. Limited data from several of the trials suggest that these interventions also did not increase partner support. No conclusions can be made about the impact of partner support on smoking cessation. Additional studies with larger samples are needed to adequately explore the effects of partner support interventions for smoking cessation.

# PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

## Are there ways to help partners to give more effective support to people who are trying to quit smoking

Smokers trying to quit who get support from partners and other people are more likely to quit. Interventions intended to improve the support received from partners have not been shown to increase long-term quit rates compared to smoking cessation programmes without a partner support component. The interventions may not have successfully changed the support provided.

# BACKGROUND

Despite the decrease in the number of adult smokers in many developed countries over the past 30 years, the number of smokers in developing countries is on the rise. Tobacco still remains the leading cause of preventable death in the US (CDC 2012). Globally, tobacco use is estimated to kill 5.4 million people annually, accounting for one in ten deaths worldwide (WHO 2012).

Smoking cessation is an important behaviour change that can have significant effects on health outcomes. Although effective cessation interventions exist, their overall effect is modest and they do not reach many high-risk smokers (Fiore 1997). The initiation, maintenance and cessation of smoking is strongly influenced by other family members. Smokers are more likely to marry smokers, to smoke the same number of cigarettes as their spouse, and to quit at the same time (Venters 1984). Smokers who are married to non-smokers or ex-smokers are more likely to quit and remain abstinent (Price 1981; Waldron 1989; Hanson 1990; McBride 1998). In addition, married smokers have higher quit rates than those who are divorced, widowed or have never married (Waldron 1989). Several studies have demonstrated that support from the spouse is highly predictive of successful smoking cessation (Graham 1971; Ockene 1982; Coppotelli 1985; Gulliver 1995). In particular, sup-

portive behaviours involving cooperative behaviours, such as talking the smoker out of smoking the cigarette, and reinforcement, such as expressing pleasure at the smoker's efforts to quit, predict successful quitting (Mermelstein 1983; Coppotelli 1985). Negative behaviours, such as nagging the smoker and complaining about smoking, are predictive of relapse. One study found that supportive behaviours were associated with initial smoking cessation, while negative or critical behaviours were associated with earlier relapse (Roski 1996).

Two additional areas of research suggest that partner involvement may be an effective intervention for smoking cessation. Family and social support has been shown to be an effective intervention for improving other health behaviours, such as dietary changes (Anonymous 1994), weight reduction (Black 1990) and medication compliance (Morisky 1983). Second, family approaches have been effective in the treatment of other addictions, especially alcohol and drug dependencies (Edwards 1995; Liddle 1995). Family interventions or programmes have become a standard part of most substance abuse programmes. However, initial trials of partner support for smoking cessation have been disappointing. In reviewing their own studies of social support interventions for smoking cessation, Lichtenstein and colleagues stated that their interventions did not improve smoking cessation rates, nor were they able to improve the level of partner support (Lichtenstein 1986).

Given the strong association between partner support and successful smoking cessation and the promise of family and social support interventions in related fields, it seems premature to conclude that partner support interventions are not an effective component to cessation programmes. Although support from a spouse has been shown to be highly predictive of successful smoking cessation (Graham 1971; Ockene 1982), the literature in this area is somewhat confusing. In a recent review of social support in smoking cessation, Westmaas et al argue that theoretical models need to be developed and tested in order for research on peer and partner social support for smoking cessation to advance (Westmaas 2010).

# OBJECTIVES

The purpose of this review is to determine if an intervention to enhance partner support helps smoking cessation when added as an adjunct to a smoking cessation programme and to estimate the size of any effect.

# METHODS

# Criteria for considering studies for this review

# **Types of studies**

Randomized controlled clinical trials of smoking cessation interventions that compared an intervention that included a partner support component with an otherwise identical intervention, and reported follow-up of six months or more.

# **Types of participants**

Smokers of either gender and any age, irrespective of their initial level of nicotine dependency, recruited from any setting, who agreed to participate in a smoking cessation programme. Pregnant and non-pregnant and married and unmarried smokers were included.

#### **Types of interventions**

Partners were defined as spouses, friends, co-workers, 'buddies' or other significant others who supported the smokers as a part of the cessation programme to which they were assigned. A partner support intervention could be directed at the smoker, the partner or both, with the aim of assisting the smoker to quit. Examples include training smokers in obtaining social support, encouraging increased contacts between smokers and supportive partners, providing training or written materials to partners to assist them in engaging in supportive behaviours, and intervening with smoker/ partner pairs in couple therapy or in larger groups to encourage supportive interactions. Some studies were excluded because the partner support intervention was not the only component being tested.

# Types of outcome measures

The primary outcome was self-reported abstinence of the smoker (not the partner) or biochemically validated abstinence (carbon monoxide levels, saliva cotinine/thiocyanate), assessed at least six months following the initiation of treatment. Studies reporting either self-reported or biochemically validated smoking status were included. Other outcomes considered for this review were number of cigarettes per day and carbon monoxide levels at six to nine months and at 12 months or greater post-treatment intervals. However, since these data were not adequately reported, the analyses were not performed. We also considered the intermediate outcome of level of partner support, as assessed by the Partner Interaction Questionnaire (PIQ) or Support Provided Measure (SPM).

# Search methods for identification of studies

For the most recent update, the search was limited to the Cochrane Tobacco Addiction Group Specialized Register, which was searched in December 2011. The Specialized Register includes reports of controlled trials of smoking cessation identified from electronic searches of the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) to Issue 4, 2011, MEDLINE to update 20110826, EMBASE to 2011 week 33, PsycINFO to 20110822 and Web of Science. To identify reports of trials relevant to this review, the search used the following topic related terms in the title or abstract: family OR families OR marriage OR spouse OR partner OR sexual partner OR buddy OR friend OR cohabitee OR coworker. Records retrieved by this search were prescreened by the Trials Search Coordinator to exclude those in which the presence of these terms was not related to the review topic. In addition, we reviewed the bibliographies of all included articles for additional trials. We also consulted researchers and experts in the field of smoking cessation for additional published and unpublished sources.

This strategy replaces the previous specific searches of CENTRAL, MEDLINE, EMBASE and PsycINFO combining smoking related and topic related terms. For early versions of this review we also conducted searches of the following databases: CDC Tobacco Information and Prevention Database (Mar 2004), CINAHL (1966 - Jul 2000), ERIC, PsycLIT, & Dissertation Abstracts (1861 - Dec 1999), HealthStar (1975 - Jul 2000), Cancer Lit (1966 -April 2004) and SSCI (1972 - April 2004).

## Data collection and analysis

Two authors (EP, FT) independently extracted data using a structured form. A third author (LB) was consulted to aid in the resolution of discrepancies. Abstinence was the primary outcome. Following changes to the Cochrane Tobacco Addiction Group's recommended method of data analysis since this review was first published, we have changed the way in which we summarize the effects of treatment. We use the risk ratio rather than the odds ratio for summarizing individual trial outcomes and for estimates of pooled effect. We estimated a pooled weighted average of risk ratios using the Mantel-Haenszel fixed-effect method, with 95% confidence intervals. The PIQ and SPM scores were also analysed to assess partner support.

In previous versions of this review, we used the Jadad 5-point scale (Jadad 1996) to assess study quality. In line with recent Cochrane guidelines (Higgins 2011), in the most recent update of this review we ceased using the scale and instead used the Cochrane risk of bias tool, assessing risk of bias for each included study in four domains: sequence generation; allocation concealment; blinding; and incomplete outcome data.

We include in this updated review the Cochrane Tobacco Addiction Group's Glossary of smoking-related terms (Appendix 1).

# RESULTS

# **Description of studies**

See: Characteristics of included studies; Characteristics of excluded studies.

We identified a total of 57 articles from the initial screens for this review. Of the 57 articles identified, 17 (representing 13 studies) met the inclusion criteria. Two of the studies were new for the 2012 update (Patten 2009; Patten 2012). The majority of the randomized clinical trial studies were excluded because, in addition to a partner intervention, the intervention group received other smoking cessation interventions that were not received by the control group. Five studies were excluded because they did not have a minimum follow-up period of six months (Gardner 1982; Albrecht 1998; West 1998; Loke 2005; Andersen 2006).

The 13 included studies were published between 1981 and 2012, covering a total of 2425 participants (1173 intervention and 1252 control). The number of participants per study ranged from 24 to over one thousand. The Nyborg trial (Nyborg 1986A; Nyborg 1986B) was treated as two separate studies because of the complexity of the intervention method which included a 'therapist administered couples intervention' and a 'self-administered/minimal contact couples intervention'. Both the study subject and partner were smokers with the intention to quit.

The average age of smokers among the 13 studies ranged from 25 to 44. Orleans 1991 was the only study to report that the minimum age was less than 18 years. Participants reported smoking an average of 13 to 29 cigarettes per day at baseline. Overall there were more women in the studies (range 41-100% female). One study enrolled pregnant women, some of whom had already quit spontaneously (McBride 2004). Partners were defined in three major categories:

1. Spouse, child, parent, friend, relative and/or co-worker (Malott 1984; Glasgow 1986; McIntyre-Kingsolver 1986; Nyborg 1986A; Nyborg 1986B; Orleans 1991; Ginsberg 1992; McBride 2004; Patten 2009; Patten 2012);

2. Buddy (Gruder 1993)

3. Fellow cessation participants (Powell 1981; May 2006).

The smoking status of partners varied, but the majority of them were nonsmokers. Post-treatment follow-up was reported at a minimum of five days to two months, and to a maximum of six to sixteen months.

Cessation techniques included nicotine gum, psychotherapy, television programmes, self-help manuals, group meetings and/or quitting guides. The partner support interventions included empathy exercises, video tapes, strategy booklets, group meetings with support manuals, monitoring booklets, behavioural technique sessions, social support guides, telephone calls from a counsellor, webbased counselling and/or a telephone contact system. Six studies manipulated the partner support component by general methods (video tape, booklet, support manual, guide, phone contact, lecture, demonstration, practice exercise) (Powell 1981; Malott 1984; Glasgow 1986; McIntyre-Kingsolver 1986; Orleans 1991; Ginsberg 1992). Five studies gave group training to the partners for partner intervention (Nyborg 1986A; Nyborg 1986B; Gruder 1993; May 2006; Patten 2012). Control groups were generally defined as 'no contact' with a partner. However, group sessions with other attempted quitters were used (McIntyre-Kingsolver 1986; May 2006), as well as weekly phone contact with a therapist (Nyborg 1986A; Nyborg 1986B). Across all studies combined, control groups consisted of: self-help manual/instruction, health education, nicotine gum, television programmes, weekly group meetings or contact with therapist, and psychotherapy.

# Risk of bias in included studies

Each study was assessed for risk of bias in four domains using the Cochrane risk of bias tool (Higgins 2011). Due to the nature of the interventions, none of the studies reported blinding of participants or providers, and hence all were rated at high risk of performance bias. Only May 2006 reported adequate methods of sequence generation and allocation concealment and was rated at low risk of selection bias. Powell 1981 indicated that randomization was broken in certain instances, and hence was rated at high risk of bias for allocation concealment. All other included studies did not report methods of sequence generation or allocation con-

cealment, and hence are rated as unclear for risk of selection bias. All studies besides May 2006, Nyborg 1986A and Nyborg 1986B reported loss to follow-up and adequate methods of addressing attrition in sufficient detail to be judged at low risk of attrition bias. Though May 2006 reported coding participants lost to follow-up as smokers, it did not report the number lost in each group, and hence was rated at unclear risk of attrition bias. Nyborg 1986A and Nyborg 1986B did not provide information on attrition, and hence both were also rated at unclear risk of attrition bias.

Biochemical validation of quitting is another area to consider when assessing risk of bias. Biochemical validation was intended as an inclusion criterion for the primary outcome, but was not performed in every study. Nine studies used cotinine, thiocyanate or carbon monoxide to biochemically validate all or most self-reported abstinence (Malott 1984; McIntyre-Kingsolver 1986; Glasgow 1986; Orleans 1991; Ginsberg 1992; McBride 2004; May 2006; Patten 2009; Patten 2012); one study attempted to collect saliva samples for validation but was not successful due to outside influences (Gruder 1993); and two articles (three studies) did not attempt any validation (Powell 1981; Nyborg 1986A, Nyborg 1986B).

## **Effects of interventions**

At six to nine months, all 13 studies reported abstinence rates of 0 to 65% for the intervention groups and 0 to 88% for control groups. The highest cessation rates were from two small studies (Powell 1981; Ginsberg 1992). McBride 2004 also reported high abstinence rates; participants were women recruited in early pregnancy, some of whom had already quit. Four studies reported abstinence rates of 20 to 30 per cent (Malott 1984; Glasgow 1986; McIntyre-Kingsolver 1986; Nyborg 1986A). One study reported a cessation rate of less than 20% for the intervention group and of more than 20% in the control group (Patten 2012). The remaining five studies had cessation rates of less than 20% for both intervention and control groups. Six studies reported abstinence rates at 12 months or greater (Powell 1981; McIntyre-Kingsolver 1986; Orleans 1991; Ginsberg 1992; Gruder 1993; McBride 2004). These ranged from 14 to 59 per cent for intervention groups and 15 to 64 per cent for control groups.

There was no evidence of substantial between-study heterogeneity, so we estimated a pooled relative risk (RR) for the effect of the intervention on abstinence at both post-treatment intervals. There was no evidence of an effect at either follow-up point: at six to nine months the RR was 0.99 (95% CI 0.84 to 1.15, 13 studies,  $I^2 = 20\%$ , Analysis 1.1) and at 12 months or greater the RR was 1.04 (95% CI 0.87 to 1.24, 6 studies,  $I^2 = 0\%$ , Analysis 1.2).

Though eight studies reported the number of cigarettes smoked per day at baseline (Powell 1981; Glasgow 1986; Malott 1984, Orleans 1991; McBride 2004; May 2006; Patten 2009; Patten 2012), only Orleans, Powell and Patten reported complete data. Complete data was not available for one and six month intervals, so data were not available to measure summary effect. Only two studies reported carbon monoxide levels at pre-intervention baseline and at one month, but the data were incomplete (Glasgow 1986; Malott 1984).

Seven studies assessed PIO scores as a measure of partner support and two studies assessed the SPM score as a measure of partner support. Two studies reported that partner support was increased after the partner support intervention (Ginsberg 1992; Gruder 1993) and four studies reported no difference in partner support between the intervention and control groups (Malott 1984; McIntyre-Kingsolver 1986; Orleans 1991; Patten 2009). One study in pregnant women found no difference between conditions but reported a decline in positive partner support between baseline and 12 months postpartum, a decrease in negative partner support during pregnancy, and an increase in negative partner support postpartum; partners reported little change in their positive and negative support (McBride 2004). One study (Patten 2012) reported significant increase in partner support in the intervention group, but smokers' reports of partner support received did not differ significantly. One study (Glasgow 1986) did not report a difference of PIQ scores between the groups.

# DISCUSSION

Social support is known to be an important determinant of success in smoking cessation efforts, so it is reasonable to expect that an intervention designed to increase support from a partner might lead to greater rates of successful smoking cessation. Our review does not demonstrate such an effect, or at least does not demonstrate one which persisted for six months or longer. The failure to conclusively show such an effect by an analysis of existing trials does not necessarily mean that partner support interventions are ineffective. There are a number of possible other explanations for our failure to find an effect.

First, the studies we identified may not have been adequately powered to detect the effects of a partner support intervention. In a previous meta-analysis conducted as a part of Agency for Health Care Quality and Research (AHRQ) guidelines (Fiore 2000), it was estimated that social support interventions might increase smoking cessation rates by three to five per cent. While a change of this magnitude would be highly clinically significant because of the major adverse effects of smoking on health, it is too small to be reliably identified by studies with the small sample sizes of the ones we reviewed. Though the summary effect sizes from our analysis are not statistically significant, and the confidence intervals are narrow, the trials are homogeneous in their interventions, so a clinically important difference cannot be absolutely ruled out.

A second possibility is that partner support may lead to short-term but not to long-term success in smoking cessation. We excluded some trials from this review because they only provided on shortterm follow-up, though they showed positive results within that short-term time frame (Albrecht 1998; West 1998).

A third possibility is that the interventions used in the studies may not have been effective in actually increasing the amount of support provided by the subjects' partners. Nine of the included studies used Partner Interaction Questionnaire or Support Provided Measure scores to assess the amount of partner support provided. These scales consist of a list of positive (supportive) and negative (critical) behaviours by the partner concerning the subject's smoking. Of the nine studies that measured partner support and followup there was no difference in scores between the groups in four (Malott 1984; McIntyre-Kingsolver 1986; Orleans 1991; Patten 2009). One study reported that positive partner support declined, and negative partner support increased in a U-shape after the partner support intervention (McBride 2004). One study (Ginsberg 1992) demonstrated an increase in partner closeness in the intervention group which was associated with higher abstinence rates. Another (Malott 1984) found negative interaction criticism to be associated with lower abstinence rates, which is consistent with the findings from observational studies. One study (Patten 2012) reported a significant increase in partner support in the intervention group, but smokers' reports of partner support received did not differ significantly.

Another possible difficulty in assessing this literature is that a number of different forms of partner support have been used in the interventions. Partners were defined as spouse/intimate other, friend, relative or co-worker. Four studies (Ginsberg 1992; Glasgow 1986; Orleans 1991; Patten 2009) used a combination of partner types, thereby causing heterogeneity within the studies. Also, smoking status of partners was not always reported. This may be an important variable in the effectiveness of the intervention and could have been unevenly distributed despite randomization. Unfortunately, the number of included studies and subjects was too small to conduct sensitivity analyses on this variable.

Finally, the majority of studies included in this review assess partner support supplemental to an established cessation intervention. In a recent review of social support in smoking cessation, Westmaas et al suggest that the lack of significant effect detected in studies of social support interventions may be due to a 'ceiling effect,' whereby established treatments given to both the intervention and control groups may have adequately met smokers' support needs (Westmaas 2010).

Previous AHRQ Clinical Practice Guidelines (Fiore 2000) recommended 'helping smokers obtain social support outside of treatment' as an effective counselling and behavioural therapy (strength of evidence = B). The review on which these guidelines were based gave an estimated OR of 1.5 (95% CI 1.1 to 2.1) for smoking cessation interventions to increase extra-treatment social support (Fiore 2000, Table 20). The review included randomized controlled trials with a follow-up period of at least five months, but the studies used in the meta-analysis of various types of behavioural and counselling therapies did not include the studies identified for this review, and included studies in which the addition of social support was not the only difference between intervention and control groups. Updated ARHQ guidelines no longer recommend this component of an intervention for treating tobacco dependence (Tobacco Use Guideline Panel 2008).

Studies suggest that partner support and the absence of partner criticism may be important in smoking cessation, but that these behaviours are not easily changed by the interventions used in the included studies. Because the interventions primarily used education and problem solving, the failure of these interventions to increase smoking cessation may result partly from their lack of systemic orientation. Smoking is a complex behaviour that is influenced by biological factors (nicotine addiction), individual psychological issues and extra-familial social relationships and pressures, as well as by the marital relationship. Supportive behaviours by the spouse are part of a complex marital relationship and are probably related to overall marital quality and satisfaction. Unfortunately, none of these observational or experimental studies of smoking cessation has measured any marital variables (other than spousal support), such as marital communication or satisfaction. Some of these studies do support the general finding in marital research that negative spousal interactions have a greater impact on outcomes than positive interactions (Rook 1984).

# AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

# Implications for practice

We failed to detect an increase in quit rates in groups receiving the intervention as compared to control groups. Limited data from several of the trials suggest that these interventions did not increase partner support. No conclusions can be made about the impact of partner support on smoking cessation.

## Implications for research

Additional studies with larger samples are needed to adequately explore the effects of partner support interventions for smoking cessation. In future studies, partner support should be routinely measured as an intermediate outcome. Pre-existing support and partner smoking status need to be controlled for. Interventions should pay more attention to the quality of the partner interaction and be more effective at increasing partner support.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Jennifer Shultz and Lorne Becker were authors on previous versions of this review. We would also like to acknowledge the help of Bette Jean Ingui, MLS and William Grant, EdD.

# REFERENCES

# References to studies included in this review

#### Ginsberg 1992 {published data only}

Ginsberg D, Hall SM, Rosinski M. Partner support, psychological treatment, and nicotine gum in smoking treatment: an incremental study. *International Journal of the Addictions* 1992;**27**(5):503–14.

# Glasgow 1986 {published data only}

Glasgow RE, Klesges RC, O'Neill HK. Programming social support for smoking modification: an extension and replication. *Addictive Behaviors* 1986;**11**:453–7.

#### Gruder 1993 {published data only}

Gruder CL, Mermelstein RJ, Kirkendol S, Hedeker D, Wong SC, Schreckengost J. Effects of social support and relapse prevention training as adjuncts to a televised smoking-cessation intervention. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 1993;**61**(1):113–20.

## Malott 1984 {published data only}

Malott JM, Glasgow RE, O'Neill HK, Klesges RC. Coworker social support in a worksite smoking control program. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis* 1984;**17**(4): 485–95.

## May 2006 {published data only}

May S, West R, Hajek P, McEwen A, McRobbie H. Randomized controlled trial of a social support ('buddy') intervention for smoking cessation. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2006;**64**:235–41.

## McBride 2004 {published data only}

McBride CM, Baucom DH, Peterson BL, Pollak KI, Palmer C, Westman E, et al.Prenatal and postnatal smoking abstinence. A partner-assisted approach. *American Journal* of *Preventive Medicine* 2004;**27**(3):232–8.

#### McIntyre-Kingsolver 1986 {published data only}

\* McIntyre-Kingsolver K, Lichtenstein E, Mermelstein RJ. Spouse training in a multicomponent smoking-cessation program. *Behavior Therapy* 1986;17:67–74. McIntyre KO. *Spouse involvement in a multicomponent treatment program for smokers*. Department of Psychology and the Graduate School of the University of Oregon, 1983. Mermelstein R, Cohen S, Lichtenstein E, Baer J, Kamarck T. Social support and smoking cessation and maintenance. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 1986;54(4): 447–53.

## Nyborg 1986A {published data only}

Nyborg K. Partner support and type of treatment as variables in the behavioural treatment of cigarette smoking. *Dissertation Abstracts International* 1985;**46(2-B)**:654. \* Nyborg KF, Nevid JS. Couples who smoke: A comparison of couples training versus individual training for smoking cessation. *Behavior Therapy* 1986;**17**:620–5.

#### Nyborg 1986B {published data only}

Nyborg K. Partner support and type of treatment as variables in the behavioural treatment of cigarette smoking. *Dissertation Abstracts International* 1985;**46(2-B)**:654. \* Nyborg KF, Nevid JS. Couples who smoke: A comparison of couples training versus individual training for smoking cessation. *Behavior Therapy* 1986;**17**:620–5.

# Orleans 1991 {published data only}

\* Orleans CT, Schoenbach VJ, Wagner EH, Quade D, Salmon MA, Pearson DC, et al.Self-help quit smoking interventions: effects of self-help materials, social support instructions, and telephone counseling. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 1991;**59**(3):439–48. Schoenbach VJ, Orleans TC, Wagner EH, Quade D, Salmon MP, Porter CQ. Characteristics of smokers who enroll and quit in self-help programs. *Health Education Research* 1992;7(3):369–80.

# Patten 2009 {published data only}

Patten CA, Petersen LR, Hughes CA, Ebbert JO, Morgenthaler BS, Brockman TA, et al.Feasibility of a telephone-based intervention for support persons to help smokers quit: a pilot study. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research* 2009;**11**(4):427–32.

## Patten 2012 {published data only}

Patten CA, Hughes CA, Lopez KN, Thomas JL, Brockman TA, Smith CM, et al. Web-based intervention for adolescent nonsmokers to help parents stop smoking: A pilot feasibility study. *Addictive Behaviors* 2012;**37**(1):85–91.

#### Powell 1981 {published data only}

Powell DR, McCann BS. The effects of a multiple treatment program and maintenance procedures on smoking cessation. *Preventive Medicine* 1981;**10**:94–104.

# References to studies excluded from this review

#### Albrecht 1998 {published data only}

Albrecht S, Payne L, Stone CA, Reynolds MD. A preliminary study of the use of peer support in smoking cessation programs for pregnant adolescents. *Journal of the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners* 1998;**10**(3): 119–25.

#### Albrecht 2006 {published data only (unpublished sought but not used)}

Albrecht SA, Caruthers D, Patrick T, Reynolds M, Salamie D, Higgins L, et al.A randomized controlled trial of a smoking cessation intervention for pregnant adolescents. *Nursing Research* 2006;**55**(6):402–10.

## Andersen 2006 {published data only}

Andersen S. Adding addiction to the transtheoretical model for smoking cessation. *Addictive Behaviors* 2007;**32**: 1099–104.

\* Andersen S. Do indigenous helpers foster smoking cessation in adult smokers?. *Addictive Behaviors* 2006;**31**: 1496–502.

Andersen S. Indigenous helpers for smoking cessation. Oncology Nursing Forum 2005;**32**(2):426.

Andersen S. Using indigenous helpers to increase smoking cessation among adult freshstart participants. *Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering* 2004;**65**(3-B):1242.

#### Audrey 2004 {published data only}

Audrey S, Cordall K, Moore L, Cohen D, Campbell R. The development and implementation of a peer-led intervention to prevent smoking among secondary school students using their established social networks. *Health Education Journal* 2004;**63**(3):266–84.

#### Carlson 2002 {published data only}

Carlson LE, Goodey E, Bennett MH, Taenzer P, Koopmans J. The addition of social support to a community-based large-group behavioural smoking cessation intervention: improved cessation rates and gender differences. *Addictive Behaviors*. 2002;**27**(4):547–59.

## Danaher 2009 {published data only}

Danaher BG, Lichtenstein E, Andrews JA, Severson HH, Akers L, Barckley M. Women helping chewers: Effects of partner support on 12-month tobacco abstinence in a smokeless tobacco cessation trial. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research* 2009;**11**(3):332–5.

#### Daniel 2004 {published data only}

Daniel M, Cargo MD, Lifshay J, Green LW. Cigarette smoking, mental health and social support: data from a northwestern First Nation. *Canadian Journal of Public Health. Revue Canadienne de Sante Publique.* 2004;**95**: 45–9.

## Digusto 1995 {published data only}

Digusto E, Bird K. Matching smokers to treatment: Selfcontrol versus social support. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 1995;**63**(2):290–5.

## Donatelle 2000 {published data only}

Donatelle RJ, Prows SL, Champeau D, Hudson D. Randomised controlled trial using social support and financial incentives for high risk pregnant smokers: Significant Other Supporter (SOS) program. *Tobacco Control* 2000;**9**(3):iii67–iii69.

## Fish 2012 {published data only}

Fish LJ, Gierisch JM, Stechuchak KM, Grambow SC, Rohrer LD, Bastian LA. Correlates of expected positive and negative support for smoking cessation among a sample of chronically ill veterans. *Addictive Behavior* 2012 Jan;**37(1)**: 135–138.

#### Gardner 1982 {published data only}

Gardner P. An investigation of couples training in smoking cessation with implications for the televised delivery of behavioural medicine counseling. Stanford University, 1982.

## Glad 1978 {published data only}

Glad W. A comparison of four smoking treatment programs and a maintenance procedure on a community population. *Clinical Psychology* 1978:4578B.

## Hamilton 1979 {published data only}

Hamilton S, Bornstein P. Broad-spectrum behavioural approach to smoking cessation: Effects of social support and paraprofessional training on the maintenance of treatment effects. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 1979; **47**(3):598–600.

## Hennrikus 2010 {published data only}

Hennrikus D, Pirie P, Hellerstedt W, Lando HA, Steele J, Dunn C. Increasing support for smoking cessation during pregnancy and postpartum: results of a randomized controlled pilot study. *Prev Med* 2010 Mar;**50(3)**:134–137.

# Houston 2008 {published data only}

Houston TK, Ford DE. A tailored Internet-delivered intervention for smoking cessation designed to encourage social support and treatment seeking: usability testing and user tracing. *Informatics for health & social care* 2008;**33**(1): 5–19.

#### Janis 1970 {published data only}

Janis I, Hoffman D. Facilitating effects of daily contact between partners who make a decision to cut down on smoking. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 1970; **17**(January):25–35.

# Jason 1987 {published data only}

Jason L, Gruder C, Buckenberger L, Lesowitz T, Belgredan J, Flay B, et al.A 12-month follow-up of a worksite smoking cessation intervention. *Health Education and Reasearch: Theory and Practice* 1987;**2**(3):185–94.

# Kendrick 1995 {published data only}

Kendrick J, Zahniser S, Miller N, Salas N, Stine J, Gargiullo P, et al.Integrating smoking cessation into routine public prenatal care: the Smoking Cessation in Pregnancy project. *American Journal of Public Health* 1995;**85**:217–22.

## Klerman 2001 {published data only}

Klerman LV, Ramey SL, Goldenberg RL, Marbury S, Hou J, Cliver SP. A randomized trial of augmented prenatal care for multiple-risk, Medicaid-eligible African American women. *American Journal of Public Health.* 2001;**91**(1):105–11.

#### Kviz 1994 {published data only}

Kviz F, Crittenden K, Madura K, Warnecke R. Use and effectiveness of buddy support in a self-help smoking cessation program. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 1994;**8**(3):191–201.

#### Lichtenstein 2002 {published data only}

Lichtenstein E, Andrews JA, Barckley M, Akers L, Severson HH. Women helping chewers: partner support and

Enhancing partner support to improve smoking cessation (Review)

Copyright © 2012 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

smokeless tobacco cessation. *Health Psychology* 2002;**21**(3): 273–8.

# Loke 2005 {published data only}

Loke AY, Lam TH. A randomized controlled trial of the simple advice given by obstetricians in Guangzhou, China, to non-smoking pregnant women to help their husbands quit smoking. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2005;**59** (1):31–7.

## McMahon 1998 {published data only}

McMahon SD, Jason L. Stress and coping in smoking cessation: a longitudinal examination. *Anxiety, Stress and Coping* 1998;11:327–43.

## McMahon 2000 {published data only}

McMahon SD, Jason L. Social support in a worksite smoking intervention. A test of theoretical models. *Behavior Modification* 2000;**24**(2):184–201.

# Moller 2003 {published data only}

Moller AM, Pedersen T, Villebro N, Norgaard P. Impact of lifestyle on perioperative smoking cessation and postoperative complication rate. *Preventive Medicine* 2003; **36**(6):704–9.

#### Murray 1995 {published data only}

Murray R, Johnston J, Dolce J, Lee W, O'Hara P. Social support for smoking cessation and abstinence: The Lung Health Study. *Addictive Behaviors* 1995;**20**(2):159–70.

## Nevid 1997 {published data only}

Nevid J, Javier R. Preliminary investigation of a culturally specific smoking cessation intervention for Hispanic smokers. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 1997;**11**(3): 198–207.

## Park 2006 {published data only}

Park ER, Puleo E, Butterfield RM, Zom M, Mertens AC, Gritz ER, et al.A process evaluation of a telephone-based peer-delivered smoking cessation intervention for adult survivors of childhood cancer: The partnership for health study. *Preventive Medicine* 2006;**42**(6):435–42.

# Patten 2004 {published data only}

Patten CA, Offord KP, Hurt RD, Cox LS, Thomas JL, Quigg SM, et al. Training support persons to help smokers quit: A pilot study. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 2004;**26**:386–90.

# Patten 2008 {published data only}

Patten CA, Smith CM, Brockman TA, Decker PA, Anderson KJ, Hughes CA, et al.Support person intervention to promote smoker utilization of the QUITPLAN Helpline. *Am J Prev Med* 2008:S479–485.

# Patten 2011 {published data only}

Patten CA, Smith CM, Brockman TA, Decker PA, Hughes CA, Nadeau AM, et al.Support-person promotion of a smoking quitline: a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Prev Med* 2011;**41(1)**:17–23.

#### Picardi 2002 {published data only}

Picardi A, Bertoldi S, Morosini P. Association between the engagement of relatives in a behavioural group intervention for smoking cessation and higher quit rates at 6-, 12- and 24-month follow-ups. *European Addiction Research* 2002;**8** (3):109–17.

#### Pirie 1997 {published data only}

Pirie P, Rooney B, Pechacek T, Lando H, Schmid L. Incorporating social support into a community-wide smoking cessation contest. *Addictive Behaviors* 1997;**22**(1): 131–7.

# Rohrbaugh 2001 {published data only}

Rohrbaugh MJ, Shoham V, Trost S, Muramoto M, Cate RM, Leischow S. Couple dynamics of change-resistant smoking: toward a family consultation model. *Family Process* 2001;**40**(1):15–31.

# Salina 1994 {published data only}

Salina D, Jason L, Hedeker D, Kaufman J, Lesondak L, McMahon S, et al.A follow-up of a media-based, worksite smoking cessation program. *American Journal of Community Pyschology* 1994;**22**(2):257–71.

## Sheahan 1997 {published data only}

Sheahan S, Wilson S. Smoking cessation for pregnant women and their partners: A pilot study. *Journal of the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners* 1997;**9**(7):323–6.

#### Solomon 2005 {published data only}

Solomon LJ, Marcy TW, Howe KD, Skelly JM, Reinier K, Flynn BS. Does extended proactive telephone support increase smoking cessation among low-income women using nicotine patches?. *Preventive Medicine* 2005;**40**(3): 306–13.

#### Sorensen 1993 {published data only}

Sorensen G, Lando H, Pechacek T. Promoting smoking cessation at the workplace - results of a randomized controlled intervention study. *Journal of Occupational Medicine* 1993;**35**:121–6.

#### Stanton 2004 {published data only}

Stanton WR, Lowe JB, Moffatt J, Del Mar CB. Randomised control trial of a smoking cessation intervention directed at men whose partners are pregnant. *Preventive Medicine* 2004;**38**(1):6–9.

#### Sun 2009 {published data only}

Sun HQ, Guo S, Chen DF, Jiang ZN, Liu Y, Di XL, et al.Family support and employment as predictors of smoking cessation success: a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial of nicotine sublingual tablets in chinese smokers. *American Journal of Drug & Alcohol Abuse* 2009; **35**(3):183–8.

# Wakefield 1998 {published data only}

Wakefield M, Jones W. Effects of a smoking cessation program for pregnant women and their partners attending a public hospital antenatal clinic. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health* 1998;**22**(3):313–20.

## West 1998 {published data only}

West R, Edwards M, Hajek P. A randomized controlled trial of a "Buddy" system to improve success at giving up smoking in a general practice. *Addiction* 1998;**93**(7): 1007–11.

Enhancing partner support to improve smoking cessation (Review)

Copyright © 2012 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

## Westmaas 2002 {published data only}

Westmaas JL, Wild TC, Ferrence R. Effects of gender in social control of smoking cessation. *Health Psychology* 2002; **21**(4):368–76.

# Additional references

#### Anonymous 1994

Anonymous. Randomised controlled trial evaluating cardiovascular screening and intervention in general practice: principal results of British family heart study. *BMJ* 1994;**308**(6924):313–20.

#### Black 1990

Black DR, Gleser LJ, Kooyers KJ. A meta-analytic evaluation of couples weight-loss programs. *Health Psychology* 1990;**9** (3):330–47.

# CDC 2012

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Smoking & Tobacco Use: Fast Facts. http://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/data\_statistics/fact\_sheets/fast\_facts/ (accessed 24 May 2012).

# Coppotelli 1985

Coppotelli HC, Orleans CT. Partner support and other determinants of smoking cessation maintenance among women. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 1985; **53**(4):455–60.

# Edwards 1995

Edwards ME, Steinglass P. Family therapy treatment outcomes for alcoholism. *Journal of Marital & Family Therapy* 1995;**21**(4):475–509.

#### Fiore 1997

Fiore MC, Jorenby DE, Baker TB. Smoking cessation: principles and practice based upon the AHCPR Guideline, 1996. Agency for Health Care Policy and Research. *Annals* of *Behavioral Medicine* 1997;**19**(3):213–9.

#### Fiore 2000

Fiore MC, Bailey WC, Cohen SJ, et al. *Treating Tobacco Use and Dependence. A Clinical Practice Guideline*. Rockville, Md: US Dept of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. AHRQ Publication No. 00-0032, 2000.

#### Graham 1971

Graham S, Gibson RW. Cessation of patterned behaviour: Withdrawal from smoking. *Social Science and Medicine* 1971;**5**(4):319–37.

#### Gulliver 1995

Gulliver SB, Hughes JR, Solomon LJ, Dey AN. An investigation of self-efficacy, partner support and daily stresses as predictors of relapse to smoking in self-quitters. *Society for the Study of Addiction to Alcohol and other Drugs* 1995;**90**:767–72.

## Hanson 1990

Hanson BS, Isacsson S-O, Janzon L, Lindell S-E. Social support and quitting smoking for good: is there an association? Results from the population study, "Men born in 1914," Malmo, Sweden. *Addictive Behaviors* 1990;**15**(3): 221–33.

#### Higgins 2011

Higgins JPT, Green S (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 [updated March 2011]. The Cochrane Collaboration 2011:Available from www.cochrane-handbook.org.

# Jadad 1996

Jadad AR, Moore RA, Carroll D, Jenkinson C, Reynolds DJ, Gavaghan DJ, et al.Assessing the quality of reports of randomized clinical trials: Is blinding necessary?. *Controlled Clinical Trials* 1996;**17**(1):1–12.

# Lichtenstein 1986

Lichtenstein E, Glasgow RE, Abrams DB. Social support in smoking cessation: In search of effective interventions. *Behavior Therapy* 1986;**17**:607–19.

#### Liddle 1995

Liddle HA, Dakof GA. Efficacy of family therapy for drug abuse: Promising but not definitive. *Journal of Marital & Family Therapy* 1995;**21**(4):511–43.

# McBride 1998

McBride CM, Curry SJ, Grothaus LC, Nelson JC, Lando H, Pirie PL. Partner smoking status and pregnant smoker's perceptions of support for and likelihood of smoking cessation. *Health Psychology* 1998;**17**(1):63–9.

## Mermelstein 1983

Mermelstein R, Lichtenstein E, McIntyre K. Partner support and relapse in smoking-cessation programs. *Journal* of Consulting and Clinical Psychology 1983;**51**(3):465–6.

#### Morisky 1983

Morisky DE, Levine DM, Green LW, Shapiro S, Russell RP, Smith CR. Five-year blood pressure control and mortality following health education for hypertensive patients. *American Journal of Public Health* 1983;**73**:153–62.

# Ockene 1982

Ockene JK, Benfari RC, Nuttal RL, Hurwitz I, Ockene IS. Relationship of psychosocial factors to smoking behaviour change in an intervention program. *Preventive Medicine* 1982;**11**(1):13–28.

### Price 1981

Price RA, Chen KH, Cavalli-Sforza LL, Feldman MW. Models of spouse influence and their applications to smoking behaviour. *Social Biology* 1981;**28**(1-2):14–29.

#### Rook 1984

Rook KS. The negative side of social interaction: Impact on psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology* 1984;**46**(5):1097–108.

#### Roski 1996

Roski J, Schmid LA, Lando HA. Long-term associations of helpful and harmful spousal behaviours with smoking cessation. *Addictive Behaviors* 1996;**21**(2):173–85.

## **Tobacco Use Guideline Panel 2008**

Tobacco Use, Dependence Guideline Panel. Treating Tobacco Use and Dependence: 2008 Update. *Treating Tobacco Use and Dependence: 2008 Update*. Rockville, MD: US Department of Health and Human Services, 2008 May.

## Venters 1984

Venters MH, Jacobs DR, Luepker RV, Maiman LA, Gillum RF. Spouse concordance of smoking patterns: The Minnesota heart survey. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 1984;**120**(4):608–16.

# Waldron 1989

Waldron I, Lye D. Family roles and smoking. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 1989;**5**(3):136–41.

## Westmaas 2010

Westmaas JL, Bontemps-Jones J, Bauer JE. Social support in smoking cessation: reconciling theory and evidence. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research* 2010;**12**(7):695–707.

# WHO 2012

World Health Organization. Tobacco facts. http: //www.who.int/tobacco/mpower/tobacco\_facts/en/ index.html (first accessed 24 May 2012).

# References to other published versions of this review

#### Park 2002

Park E, Schultz JK, Tudiver F, Campbell T, Becker L. Enhancing partner support to improve smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2002, Issue 1. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002928; PUBMED: 11869643]

## Park 2004a

Park E, Schultz JK, Tudiver F, Campbell T, Becker L. Enhancing partner support to improve smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2004, Issue 3. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002928.pub2; PUBMED: 15266469]

## Park 2004b

Park EW, Tudiver F, Schultz JK, Campbell T. Does enhancing partner support and interaction improve smoking cessation? A meta-analysis. *Annals of Family Medicine* 2004;**2**:170–4.

\* Indicates the major publication for the study

# CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

# Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

# Ginsberg 1992

Methods	Community volunteers, USA; random assignment.
Participants	N = 64, 54% Female, Mean age = 38.2 yrs. Mean # cigarettes smoked per day = 25.6 Partner = spouses/intimate others (64%), friends (33%), relatives (3%) % non-Smoking partners = 66
Interventions	<ol> <li>Nicotine Gum + Psychotherapy: 2 mg nicotine gum, instructions for gum use and education materials, quitting strategy selection, relapse prevention skill training, public commitment to abstinence, costs/benefits exercise, and psychoeducational materials (4 week programme) (n = 33).</li> <li>Nicotine Gum + Psychotherapy + Partner Support: as per (1) + partner empathy exercise, PS video tape, PS strategy booklet, personalized support strategy, and signed support agreements (5 week programme) (n = 31)</li> </ol>
Outcomes	Written questionnaire, self-report, carbon monoxide test at weeks 0, 4, 12, 26 & 52. Biochemical analysis of urine cotinine & thiocyanate at weeks 26 & 52
Notes	For purposes of this analysis, a nicotine-only group (n = 35) was omitted. The nicotine gum+psychotherapy group was used as the control

# Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	"Subjects were randomly assigned to 3-6 member groups in order of entrance into treatment within time constraints. Treat- ment for each group was randomly selected with the constraint that each cohort [of 9] have one group of each condition and an equal number of smoking partners across conditions." Method of sequence genera- tion not specified
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Method not specified
Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	No blinding reported.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	9 participants lost to follow-up counted as smokers. 1 participant who died excluded

Enhancing partner support to improve smoking cessation (Review)

Copyright © 2012 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

	from analyses
Glasgow 1986	
Methods	Worksite smoking programme; random group assignment.
Participants	N = 29, 69% Female, Mean age = 33.5 yrs. Mean # cigarettes smoked per day = 25.5 Partner = Significant other outside of work setting (spouse, close friends) % non-smoking partners = not stated
Interventions	<ul> <li>(1) Basic programme: 6 weekly group meetings (n = 13).</li> <li>(2) Basic programme+Social Support condition: 6 weekly group meetings, partner provided support during non-work hours, partners received a support manual in bi-weekly instalments (6 week programme) (n = 16)</li> </ul>
Outcomes	Self reports, exam and weigh of saved cigarette butts, and 2 biochemical measures of smoking exposure (carbon monoxide and saliva thiocyanate). Pretest, posttest & 6m follow-up
Notes	

# Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	"Randomly assigned," no further informa- tion given.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Method not specified
Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	No blinding reported
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	"6-month follow-up data were collected on 93% of subjects completing treatment, with no differences between conditions."

# Gruder 1993

Methods	Community volunteers in Illinois, USA; random assignment by site
Participants	N = 506, 62% Female, Mean age = 42.3 yrs. Mean # cigarettes smoked per day = 28 Partner = 'buddy' % non-smoking partner = 100%

# Gruder 1993 (Continued)

Interventions	<ol> <li>No-contact control group: received self help manual and instructions to watch a TV programme (20 day programme) (n = 235).</li> <li>Social support (SS): received a Quitters guide, attend 3 weekly 90-min group meetings during 20 days and receive 2 leader-initiated phone calls 1&amp;2 mos after programme ended, and to bring a non-smoking buddy to the second group meeting. Buddies received a 'buddy guide'. Smokers received instruction on how to get help from buddies and neutralize unhelpful people (20 day programme) (n = 271)</li> </ol>
Outcomes	Self report abstinence rates only. Attempts were made to validate these rates by using saliva cotinine, but this was unsuccessful. MA uses point prevalence abstinence at 6 & 12m
Notes	A discussion condition group (n = 287) was excluded from this analysis because it did not instruct buddies on specific ways to be helpful. The SS group was used as the intervention group. The study attempted to validate quit rates by saliva cotinine, however many subjects refused due to a possible fear of that AIDS testing would also be done

# Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	"Randomly assigned," method of sequence generation not specified
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Method not specified
Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	No blinding reported
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	High loss to follow-ups in both groups, but addressed by authors: "to ensure that missing values were not biasing our results, we first performed all time-related analyses using all available data, and we then repli- cated these analyses in two ways: by assum- ing that missing subjects were smoking and by using only subjects with complete data at all four time points."

Malott 1984

Methods	Worksite, USA; random assignment.	
Participants	N = 24, 83% Female, Mean age = 34 yrs. Mean # cigarettes smoked per day = 24 Partner = same sex, co-workers % non-smoking partner = not stated	
Interventions	<ol> <li>(1) Standard controlled smoking: 6 weekly group meetings - 50 minutes each (6 week programme) (n = 12).</li> <li>(2) Controlled smoking + Partner support: 6 weekly group meetings, received 'Partners Controlled Smoking Manual', and monitoring booklets were used (6 week programme) (n = 12)</li> </ol>	
Outcomes	Self report, lab analysis of spent cigarette butts, carbon monoxide tests, and post-treat- ment questionnaire. 6m follow-up	
Notes		
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	"Groups were randomly assigned," method of sequence generation not specified
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Method not specified
Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	No blinding reported
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	No participants lost to follow-up

# May 2006

Methods	Group treatment programme at smoker's clinic; random assignment by group
Participants	N = 564, 62% Female, Mean age = 43.6 yrs. Mean # cigarettes = 23 Partner = smoker attending same cessation group
Interventions	<ul> <li>(1) Control condition: 6 weekly 1.5-1 hour group sessions (n = 238, 20 groups)</li> <li>(2) Buddy condition: Buddy system was used (choosing someone in a group to be a buddy). Buddy intervention occurred during final 20 minutes of 2nd session (n = 238, 14 groups)</li> </ul>
Outcomes	Self reports, carbon monoxide test at weeks 0, 1, 4, 26

Notes	Nicotine replacement therapy or bupropion was not withheld. 4 buddy groups and 2
	solo groups used NRT or bupropion

# Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Low risk	Subjects were "assigned consecutive num- bers and each number was randomized by computer random number generation to the 'buddy' or 'solo' condition."
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	"It is not possible to conduct research of this type as a double blind trial. However researchers were not aware of the group al- location until recruitment for that group was complete and all respondents were al- located to the next available group so selec- tion would not occur."
Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	Not possible to blind due to nature of in- tervention.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	All drop-outs counted as smokers, but number of participants lost to follow-up not provided

# McBride 2004

Methods	Army Medical Center, USA; random assignment
Participants	N = 385 pregnant women, 44% already abstinent, mean age = 24 yrs % subjects married = 96% Mean # cigarettes smoked per day before pregnancy = 13 Partners = mean age 25, % non-smoking partners = 46
Interventions	<ul> <li>(1) Women-only: self-help guide, late-pregnancy relapse prevention kit, 6 counselling calls</li> <li>(2) Partner-assisted: women-only intervention+ partner support intervention (booklet, companion video, 6 counselling calls)</li> </ul>
Outcomes	Self-reported abstinence. Saliva samples collected by mail at 28 weeks pregnancy & 12m postpartum but not used to confirm self report. 6m & 12m post-partum point prevalence abstinence used in MA. PIQ & general emotional & instrumental support assessed

# McBride 2004 (Continued)

Notes	For purpose of this analysis, a usual care group $(n = 118)$ was omitted.	
	Partners who smoked were given self-help cessation guides, free nicotine patches, and	
	counselling	

# Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Randomized, method not described, strat- ified by smoking status
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Method not specified
Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	No blinding reported
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Participants lost to follow-up coded as smokers; at 12m, 31/192 lost to follow up in group 1, 46/193 lost to follow-up in group 2

# McIntyre-Kingsolver 1986

Methods	Community volunteers, USA; random assignment.	
Participants	N = 64, 58% Female, Mean age = 38.4 yrs. Mean # cigarettes smoked per day = 25.6 Partner = spouse or spouse equivalent (live-in) % non-smoking partners = 84%	
Interventions	<ul> <li>(1) Standard treatment: 6 weekly 2 hour group sessions (n = 31) (6 week programme).</li> <li>(2) Spouse training: 6 weekly 2 hour group sessions. Spouses attended each session (n = 33) (6 week programme)</li> </ul>	
Outcomes	Self-reported smoking behaviour, informants report of subjects smoking behaviour (spouse support group only), expired air carbon monoxide, saliva thiocyanate, demo- graphic and smoking history data, and partner interaction questionnaire. 6m & 1 year abstinence in MA	
Notes		
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement

# McIntyre-Kingsolver 1986 (Continued)

Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Groups were "randomly assigned," method not specified
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Method not specified
Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	Blinding not reported
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	"Of the 77 people who responded to media announcements and scheduled intake ap- pointments, 13 dropped out before session three. Dropouts were evenly distributed across conditions All subjects (except one who died) were interviewed over the tele- phone at one, two, three, and twelve month follow-ups."

Nyborg 1986A

Methods	Community volunteers, USA; random assignment.
Participants	N = 32, 50% Female, Mean Age = 34.2 yrs. Mean # cigarettes smoked per day = >20 Partner = live-in and seeking to quit (65% married) % non-smoking partners = 0%
Interventions	<ul> <li>Self-administered/ minimal contact:</li> <li>1) Individual training: behavioural treatment manual as self help, minimal contact via telephone by a therapist on a weekly basis (8 week programme) (n = 8).</li> <li>2) Couple training: behavioural treatment manual as self-help + couples received weekly therapist phone contact and therapist feedback (8 week programme) (n = 8)</li> </ul>
Outcomes	Self-reported abstinence only. 6m abstinence in MA.
Notes	Effort-only control group was not included in the study analyses, so there was no data to include for this group. The therapy and self-admin interventions used 'individual training' as the control groups respectively

# Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	"Randomly assigned," method of sequence generation not specified
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Method not specified

# Nyborg 1986A (Continued)

Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	No blinding reported
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	No information provided on loss to follow- up or analysis methods for missing data

# Nyborg 1986B

Methods	Community volunteers, USA; random assignment.
Participants	N = 32, 50% Female, Mean Age = 34.2 yrs. Mean # cigarettes smoked per day = >20 Partner = live-in and seeking to quit (65%married) % non-smoking partners = 0%
Interventions	Therapist-administered treatment: 1) Individual training: Couples received weekly treatment sessions on behavioural tech- niques. Conway manual was used (8 week programme) (n = 8). 2) Couples training: Couples received additional written materials which provided in- struction for mutual support and received therapist feedback in treatment sessions (8 week programme) (n = 8)
Outcomes	Self-reported abstinence only. 6m abstinence in MA.
Notes	Effort-only control group was not included in the study analyses, so there was no data to include for this group. The therapy and self-admin interventions used 'individual training' as the control groups respectively

# Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	"Randomly assigned," method of sequence generation not specified
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Method not specified
Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	No blinding reported
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	No information provided on loss to follow- up or analysis methods for missing data

Orleans 1991

Methods	Enrollees of health maintenance organisation in Washington, USA; random assignment
Participants	N = 1003, 63% Female, Mean age = 44.4 yrs. Mean #cigarettes smoked per day = 26 Partner = Spouse, close friend, co-worker. % non-smoking partner = not stated
Interventions	<ol> <li>(1) Self-quitting only group: 28 page quitting-guide, 4-week monitored nicotine fading programme, experimental self quit guide (4 week programme) (n = 502).</li> <li>(2) Self-quitting materials+social support instruction: 28 page quitting-guide, 4-week monitored nicotine fading programme, 16-page social support guide (4 week programme) (n = 501)</li> </ol>
Outcomes	Follow-up assessments at 8 & 16m. Biochemical assessment of saliva cotinine or thiocyanate at 16m, most self report con- firmed, self-report rates presented
Notes	This study had 2 intervention and 2 control groups. Only 1 of each was included. The support group that included a telephone counselling component was excluded ( $n = 510$ ) as well as the enhanced 'usual care' control condition ( $n = 508$ )

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Randomized, method not stated.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	"Subjects enrolling from the same family or household were assigned to the same group. " Further details not specified
Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	"Interviewers were blind to the purpose of the study and avoided counseling or rein- forcement for adherence to the self-quit- ting protocol." Comment: however, partic- ipants and providers not blinded
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Loss to follow up 6% at 16m, did not dif- fer across treatment groups. Analyses based on respondents; including losses would marginally increase estimated effect

Patten 2009

Methods	Community volunteers, USA; random assignment.
Participants	N = 59, intervention group = 35% female, control group = 47% female, intervention group mean age = 37.0 yrs, control group mean age = 40.0 yrs Intervention group mean # cigarettes smoked per day = 16.6, control group mean # cigarettes smoked per day = 16.2. Intervention group partner = spouses/partner (28%), parent (7%), child (7%), sibling (3%), friend (21%), coworker (14%), boyfriend/girlfriend (17%), other (3%) Control group partner = spouses/partner (30%), parent (10%), child (20%), sibling (13%), friend (7%), coworker (10%), boyfriend/girlfriend (7%), other (3%) % non-Smoking partners: intervention group = 35, control group = 53
Interventions	<ol> <li>(1) Control group: support persons received a booklet that contained information on nicotine dependence, motivation to quit, stop smoking resources, and supportive behaviours (n = 30).</li> <li>(2) Intervention group: support persons received a booklet + 5 weekly proactive telephone counselling sessions (lasting 20-30 min each) (n = 29)</li> </ol>
Outcomes	Written questionnaire, self-report, salivary cotinine test at weeks 6, 26
Notes	New for 2012 update.

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	"Randomly assigned," method of sequence generation not specified
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Method not specified
Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	Blinding not reported
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Participants lost to follow-up counted as smokers. "No significant differences were detected between treatment conditions on study retention. Among support persons, 98% and 95% completed the weeks 6 and 26 assessments, respectively. The corre- sponding percentages for the smokers were 97% and 95%, respectively."

Patten 2012

Methods	Community volunteers, USA; random assignment.
Participants	N = 40, adolescent (supporter)-parent dyads Parent: intervention group = 60% female, control group = 65% female, intervention group mean age = 42.9 yrs, control group mean age = 42.6 yrs Intervention group mean # cigarettes smoked per day = 20.7, control group mean # cigarettes smoked per day = 19.9. Adolecent (supporter): intervention group = 70% female, control group = 7-% female, Intervention group mean age = 15.1 yrs, control group mean age = 15.2 yrs
Interventions	<ol> <li>(1) Health education control group: a booklet related to health behavior change for adolescent + 5 weekly, 30 min, counsellor facilitated group-based sessions via a internet chat room for giving general health information</li> <li>(2) Support skills training group: a booklet related to health behavior change for adolescent + 5 weekly, 30 min, counsellor facilitated group-based sessions via a internet chat room for developing skills to support a parent to stop smoking</li> </ol>
Outcomes	Self-reported abstinence at 6 weeks & 6m. Saliva cotinine samples collected at work, home, research site at 6m. Adolescent Support Provided Measure & parent Support Received Measure assessed
Notes	The study was not adequately powered to detect statistically significant group differences New for 2012 update.

# Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	"Randomly assigned," method not speci- fied.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Method not specified
Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	Blinding not reported
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	"Ninety-five percent (19/20) of adolescents in each study group completed the 6- month assessment The 6-month assess- ment was completed by 85% of parents whose teen received HE and 90% of par- ents whose teen received SST." Parents lost to follow-up counted as smokers in ITT analysis

Powell 1981

Methods	Community volunteers, USA; random assignments.
Participants	N = 45, 64% Female, Mean Age = 36 yrs Mean #cigarettes smoked per day = 29 Partner = fellow participants in the cessation programme. %Non-smoking partner = NA
Interventions	<ul> <li>(1) No contact control (4 week programme) (n = 17).</li> <li>(2) Telephone contact system: allowed subjects to phone one-another, but not the experimenter (4 week programme) (n = 17)</li> <li>All subjects (1 and 2) attended a 5-day pre-treatment programme prior to assignment in an intervention or control group. This included an introductory meeting and 4 consecutive treatment meetings (all 1.5 hours each) consisting of lectures, demonstrations, practice exercises, aversive smoking and teaching self-control. Upon completing this, subjects were given follow-up questionnaires and assigned to a maintenance programme. Each subject was required to pay \$25 (non-refundable) and a \$30 refundable deposit</li> </ul>
Outcomes	Pretreatment questionnaire, mail-in follow-up questionnaire at 6 & 12m. No biochem- ical assessment
Notes	The 4-week support group (n = 17) was excluded from this analysis. Telephone contact system group was used as the intervention group

# Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Participants "randomly assigned," method not specified
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	High risk	"Deviations from random assignment were made in relation to the subject's availabil- ity for a specific maintenance procedure and, where possible, to separate family and friends." Comment: this suggests alloca- tion was not concealed
Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	Blinding not reported
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	"One year following the end of treatment all subjects but one were contacted by mail or telephone."

m: month(s); MA: meta-analysis; PIQ: Partner Interaction Questionnaire; PS: partner support.

# Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Study	Reason for exclusion
Albrecht 1998	Follow-up was less than 6 months
Albrecht 2006	Unpublished data were sought, but could not be used
Andersen 2006	Follow-up was less than 6 months
Audrey 2004	Not an RCT
Carlson 2002	Not an RCT
Danaher 2009	Intervention for smokeless tobacco cessation; intervention was not partner support
Daniel 2004	Not an RCT
Digusto 1995	Intervention group did not receive partner support
Donatelle 2000	Control group did not receive the financial incentive intervention that was given to the treatment group partic- ipants
Fish 2012	Not an RCT
Gardner 1982	Follow-up was less than 6 months
Glad 1978	Support Group not defined
Hamilton 1979	Intervention group did not receive partner support intervention
Hennrikus 2010	Partner support intervention in experimental group is not complete (91%)
Houston 2008	Pre-post study, outcome not cessation
Janis 1970	Control group received partner support intervention
Jason 1987	Intervention group did not receive partner support intervention
Kendrick 1995	Control group received a partner support intervention
Klerman 2001	Control group did not receive the group sessions that were given to the intervention group
Kviz 1994	Not an RCT
Lichtenstein 2002	Control group received partner support intervention
Loke 2005	Follow-up was less than 6 months

# (Continued)

McMahon 1998	Control group did not receive intervention
McMahon 2000	Control group did not receive the cognitive behavioural intervention that was given to the intervention group
Moller 2003	Control group received partner support intervention
Murray 1995	Not an RCT
Nevid 1997	Control group received partner support intervention
Park 2006	Not an RCT
Patten 2004	Control group received partner support intervention
Patten 2008	Not an RCT
Patten 2011	Outcomes of intervention are not smoking cessation rates
Picardi 2002	Not an RCT
Pirie 1997	Not an RCT
Rohrbaugh 2001	Not an RCT
Salina 1994	No partner support intervention
Sheahan 1997	Not an RCT (no control group)
Solomon 2005	Intervention group did not receive partner support
Sorensen 1993	Not an RCT
Stanton 2004	Intervention group did not receive partner support
Sun 2009	Not a trial of an intervention
Wakefield 1998	Not an RCT
West 1998	Follow-up less than 6 months
Westmaas 2002	Not an RCT

RCT: randomized controlled trial

# DATA AND ANALYSES

# Comparison 1. Partner intervention versus control

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Abstinence at 6 to 9 months	13	2425	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.99 [0.84, 1.15]
2 Abstinence at 12+ months	6	1672	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.04 [0.87, 1.24]

# Analysis I.I. Comparison I Partner intervention versus control, Outcome I Abstinence at 6 to 9 months.

Review: Enhancing partner support to improve smoking cessation

Comparison: I Partner intervention versus control

Outcome: I Abstinence at 6 to 9 months

Study or subgroup	Treatment n/N	Control n/N	Risk Ratio M-H.Fixed.95% Cl	Risk Ratio M-H.Fixed.95% Cl
Ginsberg 1992	13/31	15/33		0.92 [ 0.53, 1.61 ]
Glasgow 1986	3/13	3/12		0.92 [ 0.23, 3.72 ]
Gruder 1993	19/100	6/97		3.07 [ 1.28, 7.36 ]
Malott 1984	2/12	3/11		0.61 [ 0.12, 3.00 ]
May 2006	30/238	48/326	-	0.86 [ 0.56, 1.31 ]
McBride 2004	71/193	69/192	+	1.02 [ 0.79, 1.33 ]
McIntyre-Kingsolver 1986	9/33	6/31		1.41 [ 0.57, 3.50 ]
Nyborg 1986A	2/8	1/8		2.00 [ 0.22, 17.89 ]
Nyborg 1986B	0/8	0/8		0.0 [ 0.0, 0.0 ]
Orleans 1991	67/471	69/467	+	0.96 [ 0.71, 1.31 ]
Patten 2009	1/29	2/30		0.52 [ 0.05, 5.40 ]
Patten 2012	2/20	7/20		0.29 [ 0.07, 1.21 ]
Powell 1981	11/17	15/17		0.73 [ 0.50, 1.08 ]
Total (95% CI)	1173	1252	•	0.99 [ 0.84, 1.15 ]
Total events: 230 (Treatment), 244 (	(Control)			
Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 13.74$ , df = 1	$  (P = 0.25);  ^2 = 20\%$			
Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.17$ (P =	- 0.87)			
Test for subgroup differences: Not a	pplicable			
			0.05 0.2 1 5 20	
			Favours control Favours interven	tion

Enhancing partner support to improve smoking cessation (Review)

Copyright © 2012 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

# Analysis I.2. Comparison I Partner intervention versus control, Outcome 2 Abstinence at 12+ months.

Review: Enhancing partner support to improve smoking cessation

Comparison: I Partner intervention versus control

Outcome: 2 Abstinence at 12+ months

Study or subgroup	Treatment	Control	Risk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H,Fixed,95% Cl		M-H,Fixed,95% CI
Ginsberg 1992	8/30	11/33	•	5.9 %	0.80 [ 0.37, 1.72 ]
Gruder 1993	21/96	14/92		8.0 %	1.44 [ 0.78, 2.65 ]
McBride 2004	68/193	61/192		34.3 %	1.11 [ 0.84, 1.47 ]
McIntyre-Kingsolver 1986	12/33	10/31		5.8 %	1.13 [ 0.57, 2.23 ]
Orleans 1991	67/471	71/467		39.9 %	0.94 [ 0.69, 1.27 ]
Powell 1981	10/17	11/17		6.2 %	0.91 [ 0.53, 1.55 ]
<b>Total (95% CI)</b> Total events: 186 (Treatment), 17 Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = 2.47, df = Test for overall effect: Z = 0.40 (I Test for subgroup differences: No	<b>840</b> 8 (Control) 5 (P = 0.78); I <sup>2</sup> =0.09 P = 0.69) bt applicable	<b>832</b>		100.0 %	1.04 [ 0.87, 1.24 ]
			0.5 0.7 1 1.5 2		

Favours control

Favours intervention

# APPENDICES

# Appendix I. Glossary of terms

Term	Definition
Abstinence	A period of being quit, ie stopping the use of cigarettes or other tobacco products, May be defined in various ways; see also: point prevalence abstinence; prolonged abstinence; continuous/sustained abstinence
Biochemical verification	Also called 'biochemical validation' or 'biochemical confirmation': A procedure for checking a tobacco user's report that he or she has not smoked or used tobacco. It can be measured by testing levels of nicotine or cotinine or other chemicals in blood, urine, or saliva, or by measuring levels of carbon monoxide in exhaled breath or in blood
Bupropion	A pharmaceutical drug originally developed as an antidepressant, but now also licensed for smoking cessation; trade names Zyban, Wellbutrin (when prescribed as an antidepressant)
Carbon monoxide (CO)	A colourless, odourless highly poisonous gas found in tobacco smoke and in the lungs of people who have recently smoked, or (in smaller amounts) in people who have been exposed to tobacco smoke. May be used for biochemical verification of abstinence
Cessation	Also called 'quitting' The goal of treatment to help people achieve abstinence from smoking or other tobacco use, also used to describe the process of changing the behaviour
Continuous abstinence	Also called 'sustained abstinence' A measure of cessation often used in clinical trials involving avoidance of all tobacco use since the quit day until the time the assessment is made. The definition occasionally allows for lapses. This is the most rigorous measure of abstinence
'Cold Turkey'	Quitting abruptly, and/or quitting without behavioural or pharmaceutical support
Craving	A very intense urge or desire [to smoke]. See: Shiffman et al 'Recommendations for the assessment of tobacco craving and with- drawal in smoking cessation trials' Nicotine & Tobacco Research 2004: 6(4): 599-614
Dopamine	A neurotransmitter in the brain which regulates mood, attention, pleasure, reward, motivation and movement
Efficacy	Also called 'treatment effect' or 'effect size': The difference in outcome between the experimental and control groups
Harm reduction	Strategies to reduce harm caused by continued tobacco/nicotine use, such as reducing the number of cigarettes smoked, or switching to different brands or products, e.g. potentially reduced exposure products (PREPs), smokeless tobacco

Lapse/slip	Terms sometimes used for a return to tobacco use after a period of abstinence. A lapse or slip might be defined as a puff or two on a cigarette. This may proceed to relapse, or abstinence may be regained. Some definitions of continuous, sustained or prolonged abstinence require complete abstinence, but some allow for a limited number or duration of slips. People who lapse are very likely to relapse, but some treatments may have their effect by helping people recover from a lapse	
nAChR	[neural nicotinic acetylcholine receptors]: Areas in the brain which are thought to respond to nicotine, forming the basis of nicotine addiction by stimulating the overflow of dopamine	
Nicotine	An alkaloid derived from tobacco, responsible for the psychoactive and addictive effects of smoking	
Nicotine Replacement Therapy (NRT)	A smoking cessation treatment in which nicotine from tobacco is replaced for a limited period by pharmaceutical nicotine. This reduces the craving and withdrawal experi- enced during the initial period of abstinence while users are learning to be tobacco-free The nicotine dose can be taken through the skin, using patches, by inhaling a spray, or by mouth using gum or lozenges	
Outcome	Often used to describe the result being measured in trials that is of relevance to the review. For example smoking cessation is the outcome used in reviews of ways to help smokers quit. The exact outcome in terms of the definition of abstinence and the length of time that has elapsed since the quit attempt was made may vary from trial to trial	
Pharmacotherapy	A treatment using pharmaceutical drugs, e.g. NRT, bupropion	
Point prevalence abstinence (PPA)	A measure of cessation based on behaviour at a particular point in time, or during a relatively brief specified period, e.g. 24 hours, 7 days. It may include a mixture of recent and long-term quitters. cf. prolonged abstinence, continuous abstinence	
Prolonged abstinence	A measure of cessation which typically allows a 'grace period' following the quit date (usually of about two weeks), to allow for slips/lapses during the first few days when the effect of treatment may still be emerging. See: Hughes et al 'Measures of abstinence in clinical trials: issues and recommendations'; Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 2003: 5 (1); 13-25	
Relapse	A return to regular smoking after a period of abstinence	
Secondhand smoke	Also called passive smoking or environmental tobacco smoke [ETS] A mixture of smoke exhaled by smokers and smoke released from smouldering cigarettes, cigars, pipes, bidis, etc. The smoke mixture contains gases and particulates, including nicotine, carcinogens and toxins	
Self-efficacy	The belief that one will be able to change one's behaviour, e.g. to quit smoking	
SPC [Summary of Product Characteristics]	Advice from the manufacturers of a drug, agreed with the relevant licensing authority, to enable health professionals to prescribe and use the treatment safely and effectively	

(Continued)

Tapering	A gradual decrease in dose at the end of treatment, as an alternative to abruptly stopping treatment
Tar	The toxic chemicals found in cigarettes. In solid form, it is the brown, tacky residue visible in a cigarette filter and deposited in the lungs of smokers
Titration	A technique of dosing at low levels at the beginning of treatment, and gradually in- creasing to full dose over a few days, to allow the body to get used to the drug. It is designed to limit side effects
Withdrawal	A variety of behavioural, affective, cognitive and physiological symptoms, usually tran- sient, which occur after use of an addictive drug is reduced or stopped. See: Shiffman et al 'Recommendations for the assessment of tobacco craving and with- drawal in smoking cessation trials' Nicotine & Tobacco Research 2004: 6(4): 599-614

# WHAT'S NEW

Last assessed as up-to-date: 24 April 2012.

Date	Event	Description
30 April 2012	New search has been performed	A total of 12 new articles were found in the updated search in December 2011, and two randomized trials that satisfied the inclusion criteria were included. Minor up- date to body of the review, conclusions not changed
30 April 2012	New citation required but conclusions have not changed	Review updated with two new included studies found; text updated; conclusions unchanged

# HISTORY

Protocol first published: Issue 1, 2001

Review first published: Issue 1, 2002

Date	Event	Description
17 April 2008	Amended	Converted to new review format.

(Continued)

25 February 2008	New search has been performed	A total of 10 new articles were found in the updated search in October 2007, and two included randomized trials that satisfied the inclusion criteria. A minor update has been made to the body of the review and the conclusions remain as before
11 May 2004	New search has been performed	A total of 9 new articles were found in the updated search in April 2004, but none included randomized trials that satisfied the inclusion criteria. No changes have been made to the body of the review and the conclusions remain as before.

# CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

Eal-Whan Park, MD, as primary author for this review, originated the concept for this research. He conducted data extraction and cowrote most of the review.

Jennifer Schultz previously coordinated all aspects of this review. She maintained all data files, processed results and co-wrote some of the research.

Fred Tudiver, MD also conducted the data extraction and co-wrote much of the research.

Tom Campbell, MD has previously published in this area and was consulted to assist with co-writing the introduction and discussion.

Lorne A. Becker, MD served as a consultant for the design of this research. He assisted reviewers (EP, FT) in reaching consensus with data discrepancy. He has assisted with the data analysis for this research.

# DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

None known

# SOURCES OF SUPPORT

# **Internal sources**

- SUNY Upstate Medical University- Department of Family Medicine, USA.
- Dankook University, Department of Family Medicine, Korea, South.

# **External sources**

• No sources of support supplied

# INDEX TERMS

# Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

\*Interpersonal Relations; \*Social Support; Family; Friends; Randomized Controlled Trials as Topic; Smoking Cessation [methods; \*psychology]; Spouses

# MeSH check words

Adult; Female; Humans; Male